# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-12-2013

# Golub v. Kirk-Scott, LTD Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41505

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE T.

#### A. Nature of Case

This case is about whether Appellant Kirk-Scott, Ltd. ("Kirk-Scott") or Appellees Alan and Marilyn Golub ("Golub") have priority to real property located in Coeur D'Alene, Idaho.

#### B. Course of Proceedings

On January 25, 2013<sup>1</sup>, Golub commenced a declaratory judgment action in the Kootenai County, Idaho, District Court. The 2013 Action, Case No. CV-13-866, sought determination as to whether Golubs' March 11, 2009, Default Judgment had priority over Kirk Scott's November 18, 2004, Deed of Trust. On March 14, 2013, Kirk-Scott answered Golubs' complaint. On April 30, 2013, Kirk-Scott moved to dismiss the 2013 Action. On May 9, 2013, Golubs moved for summary judgment adjudication of the 2013 Action.

On May 20, 2013, the 2013 Action was consolidated with Kootenai County District Court Cause Number CV07-8038.<sup>2</sup> On June 24, 2013, Kirk-Scott moved to vacate the March 11, 2009, Default Judgment. On July 9, 2013, the Court heard oral argument on Kirk-Scott's Motion to Dismiss, Kirk-Scott's Motion to Vacate, and Golubs' Motion for Summary Judgment. At the July 9, 2013, hearing the Court allowed, over Kirk-Scott's objection, Golubs' late-filed evidence to be admitted. On July 25, 2013, Kirk-Scott moved to compel Golub to disclose the amount of monies Golub received in partially settling the 2007 Action.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The 2013 lawsuit is titled the "2013 Action". <sup>2</sup> The 2007 lawsuit is titled the "2007 Action".

On August 9, 2013, the Trial Court issued an order that (a) denied Kirk-Scott's Motion to Dismiss, (b) denied Kirk-Scott's Motion to Vacate, (c) granted Golubs' Motion for Summary Judgment, and (d) rendered Kirk-Scott's Motion to Compel moot. On August 19, 2013, the Trial Court issued its final judgment. On August 21, 2013, Kirk-Scott moved to alter/amend the Court's August 9, 2013, Order and August 19, 2013, Judgment. On September 27, 2013, the Trial Court denied Kirk-Scott's Motion to Amend/Alter. On September 30, 2013, Kirk-Scott filed its Notice of Appeal. On November 21, 2013, the Trial Court, *sua sponte*, sanctioned Kirk-Scott for its Motion to Amend/Alter and, on December 3, 2013, issued its Order re Sanctions in which the Trial Court ordered Kirk-Scott to pay Golub \$2,400.00 in attorneys' fees. Kirk-Scott amended its Notice of Appeal on December 4, 2013, in order to address the Trial Court's November 21, 2013, and December 4, 2013 sanctions orders.

#### C. Statement of Facts.

1. The 2007 and 2013 Actions originate from a federal lawsuit titled *Tomlinson Black North Idaho v. Geraldine Kirk-Hughes, et. al,* 2:06-cv-00118-RHW (D. Idaho) *available at* http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCOURTS-idd-2\_06-cv-00118/pdf/USCOURTS-idd-2\_06-cv-00118-1.pdf (*last visited January* 27, 2014)(hereinafter the "Federal Action"). The Federal Action involved a real estate commission dispute between Tomlinson Black North Idaho, Inc., Geraldine Kirk-Hughes, Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC, and Kelly Politas. *Id.* at 3.<sup>3</sup> Briefly stated, in mid-2004 Ms. Kirk-Hughes instructed Tomlinson Black to write an offer to purchase

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Neither Kirk-Scott, Ltd. or Balinda Antoine, Kirk-Scott's president, were parties (or witnesses) to the Federal Action.

real property then-owned by Lenore and Delano Peterson (the Peterson property<sup>4</sup>). *Id.* at 3. Alan Golub, an employee of Pacific Real Estate & Investment, served as the listing agent for the Peterson property. *Id.* at 3. Ultimately, the purchase price for the Peterson property was \$5,482,000 with a real estate commission equal to 50% of any sale amount over \$4.4 million. *Id.* at 5.

- 2. On September 25, 2007, Mr. Golub was deposed as part of the Federal Action; and, at the deposition, testified about a 2004 meeting he attended at the Coeur d'Alene Resort with Balinda Antoine, Kirk-Scott, Ltd's president:
  - Q. And if you already testified to this, I apologize. But who was present?
  - A. Tony Jansen, who was an architect at that time with ALSC from Spokane, John Lasher from First American Title, Ron Hazard and Mike Harris with the Stonehill Group, who were developers of a large project. Dean was present. I was present. Ms. Kirk-Hughes was present. Darlene Moore was present. Ms. Kirk-Hughes husband, Peter was present. Ms. Kirk-Hughes husband, Peter was present. Ms. Kirk-Hughes sister. I believe her name is Belinda was present. There was also a conference call to architect Algie Pulley. Also present was the engineer, Bart North from North Engineering. And I believe also present was Sherry Howell, who formerly worked for the county. She was present.

Q. So please tell me what was the purpose of this presentation again?

The Peterson property abuts real property referred to as the Sloan and Atkinson property. *Id.* at 3. The Federal Action found that "Kirk-Hughes bought the Atkinson property after Golub assigned his interest in purchasing the property to Kirk-Hughes" and that Kirk-Hughes purchased the Sloan property. *Id.* at 3. Kirk-Scott's Deed of Trust secures the Atkinson and Sloan parcels, not the Peterson property. (R, Vol. 1, p. 39-42)

- A. It was my understanding Geraldine wished to have her sister, who lived in Texas, come up to see Idaho to see the property and to elicit her interest in investing in this project.
- Q. And so the purpose of the presentation was to --
- A. To --
- Q. Sell her sister --
- A. <u>Sell her sister on this project</u>. (R, Vol. 1, p. 137, L. 24-25; p. 138, L. 1-25, p. 139, L. 1-7, p. 249, L. ¶2)
- 3. Ms. Antoine traveled to Coeur d'Alene, Idaho in 2004 in order to attend a presentation that Mr. Golub made regarding the subject property's development. Id. p. 249, L. 3. That presentation took place at a seminar room located in the Coeur d'Alene Resort. Id. at p. 249 250, L. 44-5, 6, 8. At the meeting Mr. Golub and Ms. Antoine had an extensive conversation in which Ms. Antoine asked Mr. Golub whether the subject property was encumbered by other liens. Id. Ms. Antoine then informed Mr. Golub that any loan regarding the subject property's development would be secured with a deed of trust. Id. Mr. Golub assured Ms. Antoine that title to the property was clear. Id.
- 4. At the September 25, 2007, deposition Mr. Golub testified that the day after the above-referenced presentation he drove Ms. Antoine to the subject property:
  - Q. Did you have conversations with any of the parties in that group that day about purchasing the Peterson property?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The phrase "subject property" means the Atkinson, Sloan, and Peterson properties in Kootenai County, Idaho. At the trial court level the parties periodically referred to the "subject property" as the Atkinson, Sloan, and Peterson properties. (R, Vol. 1, p. 73-74)

- A. I was basically showing them around the property. It was to --my attention actually was directed primarily at her sister, Belinda. I was personally showing her the different attributes of the property, the views, and took her, thinking that she was the key person that that meeting was set up for. So I spent my time showing the property to her sister.
- Q. What led you to believe she was the key person that you needed to show this property to that day?
- A. It was the fact that the meeting was arranged for her. When we were on the -- when Ms. Kirk-Hughes had the phone conversation with her sister she mentioned -- this is at the first meeting on May 8th -- she mentioned that her sister lived in Texas and had two major businesses in the medical field, that one was equipment, medical equipment for oxygen, beds, this type of thing, medical equipment. And also she had another company where she staffed private nursing, nurses for resident care. And she described her sister as a very successful business woman in Texas.
- Q. You already had both the Sloan property and the Peterson property under contract with Geraldine Kirk-Hughes and Darlene Moore so why did you care?
- A. Because it was my impression that Ms. Kirk-Hughes did not individually have the financial capability to close on the contract. And in her conversations she talked about investors that she was looking to interest in the property. (R, Vol, p. 141, L. 24:25, p. 142, L. 1-25, p. 143, L., 1-17, p. 250, L. ¶6)
- 5. At the September 25, 2007, deposition Mr. Golub testified, in relation to the "real estate commission" regarding the Peterson property: (a) "the total commission to all real estate agents would have been" \$941,000; and, (b) the \$941,000 "commission" would be split with: (i) Darlene Moore receiving \$109,640.00 (of the \$941,000 commission); (ii) Tomlinson Black

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See supra at §I(C)(1) for a general description of the "listing agreement" that gave rise to the "real estate commission." The "listing agreement" is available at R, Vol. I, p. 173-174.

receiving \$191,870.00 (of the \$941,000 commission); (iii) Pacific Real Estate receiving \$154,872.50 (of the \$941,000 commission); and, (iv) Mr. Golub receiving \$464,617.50 (of the \$941,000 commission). (R, Vol. 1, p. 262, L. 2-17, p. 284, L. 14-20, p. 175, p. 185, L. 14-23, p. 186, L. 1-3). At the September 25, 2007, deposition Mr. Golub testified that he (Golub) would pay Darlene Moore a two percent commission based of the sale of the Peterson property. (R, Vol. 1, p. 158, L. 13-19)

- 6. At the September 25, 2007, deposition Mr. Golub testified to repeatedly querying First American Title Employee Melody Jones during 2004 2005 timeframe to ascertain who had title to the Sloan, Atkinson, and Peterson properties. (R, Vol. 1, p. 146, L. 22-25; p. 147, L. 1-2; p. 148, L. 18-23; p. 149, L. 7-13; p. 150, L. 18-25; p. 151, L. 1-17; p. 152, L. 22-24; p. 153, L.12-18; p. 156, L. 17-25; p. 157, L. 1-4) Ms. Jones agrees. (R, Vol. 1, p. 319 320)
- 7. Mr. Peterson filed a complaint against Mr. Golub with the Idaho Real Estate Commission. (R, Vol. 1, p. 288, L. 19-25, p. 289, L. 1-5) The Idaho Real Estate Commission found Mr. Golub liable for failing to timely communicate with Mr. Peterson and fined Mr. Golub. (R, Vol. 1, p. 289, L. 18-25, p. 290, L. 1-25, p. 291, L. 1-23)
- 8. There is no evidence in the record that Pacific Real Estate assigned its \$154,872.50 share of the \$941,000 to Golub. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 32, L. 21-25, p. 33, L. 1-2)
- 9. In 2006 Alan Golub contacted Darlene Moore and asked if Ms. Moore would be interested in suing Ms. Kirk-Hughes in order to recover the above-referenced real estate commissions. (R, Vol. 1, p. 307, L. ¶17) Ms. Moore told Mr. Golub that such a lawsuit lacked

merit because "Balinda Antoine had a mortgage on the [subject property] and there would be no asset to collect against." *Id.* 

- 10. What Ms. Moore told Mr. Golub did not come as a surprise as Mr. Golub testified:
  - Q. You knew in 2004 that Kirk-Scott had clear title to the property?
  - A. The property, yes.
  - Q. Okay. And what do you mean by "the property?"
  - A. The properties would have been, I believe, the Mayvis Sloan and/or Atkinson property. (R, Vol. 1, p. 296, L. 6-18)
- Not only was Mr. Golub well informed about Kirk-Scott's secured interest in "the property," but he received a play-by-play narrative of the steps being taken to draft Kirk-Scott's Deed of Trust regarding the subject property. To wit: in mid-2004 Ms. Antoine told Mr. Golub that the subject property would be secured by a deed of trust; in July 2004 Ms. Antoine told Mr. Golub that the subject property needed to be titled in Kirk-Scott's name because Kirk-Scott was financing the subject property's purchase; in September 2004 Ms. Kirk-Hughes told Mr. Golub that she was giving Ms. Antoine a deed of trust in the subject property; in November 2004 Ms. Kirk-Hughes told Mr. Golub that the Deed of Trust was being prepared; in November 2004 Darlene Moore told Mr. Golub that she (Moore), personally, was preparing the Kirk-Scott Deed of Trust. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 61, L. 20-25, p. 62, L. 1-25, p. 63, L. 1-22; R, Vol. 1, p. 305, L. ¶11, p. 306, L. ¶15, p. 312, L. ¶10, p. 313, L. ¶12)

- 12. Mr. Golub, a real estate agent, knows how to do a title search, knows where to find records regarding real property ownership, and, when presented with Kirk-Scott's Deed of Trust, testified that there was nothing in that document that confused him. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 64, L. 9-18; R, Vol. 1, p. 274, L. 1-18, p. 276, L. 6-20, p. 295, L. 10-25, p. 300, L. 15-23)
- 13. From 2006 2007 Mr. Golub attended county commissioner hearings regarding the subject property's development. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 64, L. 19-25; R, Vol. 1, p. 315, L. ¶18, 22)
- 14. And, it bears repeating, Ms. Moore told Mr. Golub in 2006 that the subject property was secured by Kirk-Scott's Deed of Trust. (R, Vol. 1, p. 307, L. ¶17)
- 15. On October 30, 2007, Alan Golub sued Geraldine Kirk-Hughes, Peter Sampson, Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC, Kirk-Hughes & Associates, Inc., Kelly Polatis, Delano Peterson, and Lenore Peterson.<sup>7</sup> (R, Vol. 1, p. 162 169) Neither Kirk-Scott or Ms. Antoine were parties to the 2007 Action. *See id.* And even though Mr. Golub testified under oath at the September 25, 2007, deposition (which predated the October 30, 2007, Complaint's filing by 35 days) that his share of the \$941,000 commission was, at best, \$464,617.50, he nonetheless sued for the entire \$941,000 amount. *See infra*.
- 16. The 2007 Action asked for, *inter alia*, (a) "Judgment in favor of Plaintiffs for all claims against Defendants in an amount to be proven at trial, but more than the jurisdictional amount of \$10,000.00" and (b) "pre-judgment interest." (R, Vol. 1, p. 169) A single sentence in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This lawsuit, which was filed in the Kootenai County, District Court, under Cause Number CV 07-8038, is the above-referenced 2007 Action.

the complaint alleged that defendant "Peterson did not pay Golub the \$941,000 under the Listing Agreement..." *Id.* p. 166.

- 17. On June 11, 2008, Mr. Golub filed the "Affidavit of Alan Golub in Support of Motion for Default Judgment Against Kelly Polatis." *Id.* at p. 170.
- 18. Exhibit 1 to Mr. Golub's June 11, 2008, Affidavit is the above-referenced "listing agreement" to which Mr. Golub testified he is entitled to \$941,000.00. *Id.* at p. 171. The two page hand written "listing agreement" does not contain the number \$941,000.00 or state that Mr. Golub is (or was) entitled to that amount of money. *Id.* at p. 173 174. Those omissions were for good reason, for Mr. Golub testified that he was not entitled to \$941,000. *See supa.* at ¶7.
- 19. On February 26, 2009, attorney Michael Howard (who defended Mr. Golub's deposition in the Federal Action, represented Mr. Golub in the 2007 Action, and represents Mr. Golub in the 2013 Action) moved, under I.R.C.P. 55(b)(1) for a Motion for Default Judgment. *Id.* at p. 190 192. The memorandum in support of the default motion was supported by a February 18, 2009, Affidavit of Michael Howard, and the June 10<sup>8</sup> [sic], 2008, Affidavit that Alan J. Golub filed against Kelly Polatis - just one of the seven defendants in the 2007 Action. *Id.* at p. 170-174, p. 190-192. The February 26, 2009, motion for default against Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC (and others) was not supported by "an affidavit of the amount due showing the method of computation, together with any original instrument evidencing the claim" against defendant Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC (or any other defendant besides

The reference to the June 10, 2008, Golub Affidavit was a typographical error. The docket contains no evidence of a June 10, 2008 Golub Affidavit but does contain evidence of a June 11, 2008 Golub Affidavit. (R, Vol 1. pg. 211-224)

Polatis) as required by IRCP 55(b)(1) - - - it was supported by an Affidavit of amount due against Kelly Polatis and Kelly Polatis only. *Id*.

- 20. On March 11, 2009, the Trial Court signed Mr. Golub's Judgment but did not execute a IRCP 54(b) certificate. (R, Vol. 1, p. 36-37). The March 11, 2009, Judgment listed: "principal judgment amount" as \$941,000, "pre-judgment interest: 12% to run from March 11, 2005 through the date of this Judgment," and "post judgment interest." *Id.* By way of contrast, Mr. Golub's October 30, 2007, Complaint (a) did not ask for \$941,000 from any defendant, (b) did not seek 12% interest from any defendant, or (c) did not seek any prejudgment interest from any defendant. (R, Vol. 1, p. 162-169)
- 21. On or about July 8, 2009, Mr. Golub settled his claims with defendants Delano and Lenore Peterson. (R, Vol. 1, p. 201, L. 5-6)
- 22. On or about July 23, 2009, Mr. Golub moved to have the Court issue a Rule 54(b) certificate against all defendants but Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC. *Id.* at p. 204. In seeking the Rule 54(b) certification Mr. Golub admitted that there were "technically still parties" to the case but claimed that "immediate entry of judgment will allow Golub the opportunity to begin execution upon the assets of the Defendants." *Id.* at p. 205 L. 15.
- 23. On August 25, 2009, Mr. Golub recorded the March 11, 2009, Judgment but not the signed Rule 54(b) certificate. *Id.* at p. 36.
- 24. On July 15, 2010, defendants Delano and Lenore Peterson filed a "Full Satisfaction of Mediated Settlement Agreement." *Id.* at p. 207-208. The amount of the settlement agreement is not known but both Mr. Golub and Mrs. Golub signed the document. *Id.*

Although the settlement amount is not known, it is likely significant for the Petersons had the financial wherewithal to pay the entire \$941,000 judgment as Mr. Golub admits that the basis for the October 2007 action is "based upon the sales price of \$5,482,000 for the [sale of] the Peterson property." *Id.* at p. 185.

- 25. On September 17, 2010, Kirk-Scott, Ltd.'s agent recorded the Deed of Trust. *Id.* at p. 35. Golub concedes that Kirk-Scott's Deed of Trust is valid. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 48, L. 12-15)
- 26. On October 28, 2010, Mr. Golub re-recorded the March 11, 2009, Judgment but that Judgment did not contain a Rule 54 certificate. *Id.* at p. 35. Additionally, the re-recorded Judgment did *not* take into account the amount Mr. and Mrs. Golub received from the Peterson defendants as a result of the July 2010 settlement - it sought the same \$941,000 amount as before. *See id.*
- 27. On February 22, 2013, Golub served Kirk-Scott with the 2013 Action. (R, Vol. 1, p. 356) On that day Balinda Antoine and Kirk-Scott, Ltd., who were not parties to the 2007 Action, first learned of the March 11, 2009, Default Judgment (R, Vol. 1, p. 466, L. ¶5)
- 28. Kirk-Scott, who never had opportunity to defend its interests in the 2007 Action, answered and immediately commenced discovery. Discovery revealed (a) that Mr. Golub testified, under oath in September 2007, that he did not have a claim to over half of the \$941,000, (b) that Mr. Golub recovered some of the \$941,000 from the Peterson defendants via a July 2010 settlement, (c) that Mr. Golub re-recorded the default judgment in October 2010 but did not deduct the monies he recovered from the Petersons when he re-recorded the judgment, and (d) that Mr. Golub thought it perfectly fair that he be allowed to recover twice on the default

judgment (once from the Petersons as part of the July 2010 settlement and once from the Kirk-Hughes defendants), and that (e) some of the \$941,000 Golub obtained as part of the default judgment is what Tomlinson Black recovered as part of the Federal Action. (R, Vol. 1, p. 284, L. 15-25, p. 285, L. 1-25, p. 286, L. 1-9, p. 287, L. 8-23, p. 293, L. 7-25, p. 294, L. 1-25, p. 295, L. 1-2)

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