Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-18-2014

Golub v. Kirk-Scott, LTD Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41505

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

ARGUMENT

The Kirk-Hughes Defendants and Kirk-Scott have engaged in a variety of strategies in an attempt to block Golub's collection efforts on the only available asset the defendants own – the

² The Kirk-Hughes Defendants also appeal the summary judgment and sanctions in the consolidated action, which will be responded to separately.

real property held by KHD in Idaho. While these machinations are complex and meant to confuse, the relevant undisputed facts as properly ferreted out by the trial court are not. Golub is the judgment creditor on a \$941,000 judgment against KHD granted in 2009 and recorded in 2010 on the real property KHD owns. Kirk-Scott filed a six-year-old Deed of Trust on the property in 2010, while KHD was in bankruptcy. No basis exists to vacate the default judgment, and Kirk-Scott's claim that Golub's judgment lacks priority over its Deed of Trust is not supported by the law or the facts, and the court properly exercised its discretion to award sanctions.

A. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to vacate a default judgment entered over four years before the motion was made.

A trial court is vested with broad discretion in determining whether to grant a Rule 60(b) motion to vacate a judgment; it will be reviewed only upon a clear abuse of discretion. *In re Jane Doe I*, 145 Idaho 650, 182 P.3d 707 (2008). Thus, absent a showing of arbitrary disregard for the relevant facts and principles of law by the court below, the Supreme Court will affirm the lower court's decision to grant or deny relief. *Sherwood & Roberts, Inc. v. Riplinger*, 103 Idaho 535, 650 P.2d 677 (1982). Contrary to Kirk-Scott's argument, that discretion is not limited here by the concepts discussed in *Duetz-Allis Credit Corp. v. Smith*, 117 Idaho 118, 785 P.2d 682 (Ct. App. 1990). There, the court referenced the limitation on a trial court's discretion in a motion to vacate **only** when procedural safeguards have been ignored, such as notice to a party that has appeared before entry of the default. *Id.* at 120. No such notice defects are alleged here, and the trial court retained full discretion to determine the impropriety of setting aside a default judgment

six years after entry. In fact, the court's discretion to **grant** relief on a motion to vacate is bounded by the requirement that the party seeking relief demonstrate "unique and compelling circumstances which justify such relief." *Printcraft Press, Inc. v. Sunnyside Park Utilities, Inc.*, 153 Idaho 440, 449-50, 283 P.3d 757 (2012).

Here, there are no such exceptional circumstances, but instead only the attempts of interrelated individuals and companies to block collection of a properly obtained judgment. Kirk-Scott asserts that the district court erred in ruling that it had not met its burden of establishing that its Rule 60(b) motion was brought within a reasonable time; while somewhat confusing, Kirk-Scott apparently asserts that (1) the trial court applied an improper standard in analyzing evidence of when Kirk-Scott was aware of the judgment; (2) Kirk-Scott had no adverse standing to attack it as a non-party; and (3) that once served with the Complaint in the Declaratory Action, it acted diligently. (See Kirk-Scott Appellant's Brief at pp. 22-23) None of these claims relieved Kirk-Scott of proving the timeliness of its motion, which it did not do. The trial court properly analyzed the facts, and exercised its discretion to deny the motion to vacate.

1. Rule 60(b) requires the moving party to prove the motion was brought within "a reasonable time"; Kirk-Scott failed to meet its burden to establish such reasonableness, including proof of when it became aware of the judgment.

Kirk-Scott sought relief from the Default Judgment under I.R.C.P. 60(b) which provides:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment...for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence...(3) fraud...misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released or discharged...or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation

of the judgment. **The motion shall be made within a reasonable time**, and for reasons (1), (2), and (3), not more than six (6) months after the judgment...was entered...(emphasis added)

The party moving to have a judgment set aside bears the burden of proving his right to relief. First Sec. Bank of Idaho, N.A. v. Stauffer, 112 Idaho 133, 139, 730 P.2d 1053 (Ct. App. 1986). Whether a Rule 60(b) motion is timely is an issue of fact for the district court. Davis v. Parrish, 131 Idaho 595, 597, 961 P.2d 1198 (1998). A district court is only vested with the discretion to set aside a default judgment if the moving party has complied with the time for making such motion. Catledge v. Transport Tire Co., Inc., 107 Idaho 602, 691 P.2d 1217 (1984).

It must appear that the movant has acted "promptly and diligently in seeking relief." Stoner v. Turner, 73 Idaho 117, 121, 247 P.2d 469 (1952) The trial court applies the proper standard in determining whether a movant acts within a reasonable time to set aside a default judgment when it bases its determination upon whether the movants acted "promptly" once they learned of the default judgment. Wright v. Wright, 130 Idaho 918, 922, 950 P.2d 1257 (1998). When a movant challenges a judgment under I.R.C.P. 60(b), the court examines the length of time between "the moment the judgment became apparent" to the movant, and the date the Rule 60(b) motion is filed. Meyers v. Hansen, 148 Idaho 283, 291, 221 P.3d 81 (2009). Whether a motion for relief from judgment is timely is a factual issue for the district court. Meyers, 148 Idaho 291.

After acknowledging these legal requirements, the district court denied Kirk-Scott's Rule 60(b) motion to vacate the default judgment because Kirk-Scott "has provided no evidence to the

Court as to when it became aware of the judgment in question," thus Kirk-Scott "has failed to meet its burden of showing that its Rule 60(b) motion is timely." (R. Vol. I, p. 416)

Kirk-Scott argues that it was inappropriate for the court to analyze when Kirk-Scott was "aware" of the judgment for the purposes of determining if it met its burden to establish that it acted within the required reasonable time. It is undisputed that Kirk-Scott made its motion under Rule 60(b), and that the court was entitled to engage in a fact specific inquiry on the reasonableness of the time within which the motion was brought. The timeliness requirement has been applied even when a non-party moves for relief under Rule 60(b). In *Johnson v. Pioneer Title Co. of Ada County*, 104 Idaho 727, 662 P.2d 1171 (Ct. App. 1983) the court analyzed whether a non-party met the time requirement in Rule 60(b) by filing its first motion to vacate within 21 days after entry of the judgment, even though it thereafter had to move to intervene and remake the motion; the court analyzed the pre-intervention and post-intervention conduct of the movant to determine if it met the timeliness requirement. A party seeking relief from a judgment must exercise due diligence in prosecution of its rights. *Kovachy v. DeLeusomme*, 122 Idaho 973, 975, 842 P.2d 309 (Ct. App. 1992).

As a result, the trial court here could certainly analyze the fact of when Kirk-Scott was aware of the judgment in determining the reasonableness in the timing of Kirk-Scott's motion. (In fact, as a majority member of KHD, the court could impute KHD's knowledge to Kirk-Scott.) Kirk-Scott's failure to present evidence to establish the motion was timely brought in turn establishes the court's correct exercise of its discretion. No basis exists to overturn the ruling.

2. A non-party to the judgment sought to be vacated is also required to establish timeliness.

Kirk-Scott asserts that it lacked standing to attack the default judgment under Rule 60(b) until the Declaratory Judgment action was filed, and thus its motion was automatically made within a reasonable time. There are several errors in this argument.

First, as noted in Golub's original brief in opposition to the motion to vacate, Kirk-Scott not only failed to establish that she brought the motion within a reasonable time from its entry, or a reasonable time from the first awareness of it, but also failed to offer any explanation why months went by after the Declaratory Judgment action was filed before it brought the motion to vacate. (Kirk-Scott apparently admits that it had some obligation to act at that time.) Kirk-Scott failed to meet its burden and no other facts are relevant. When a movant fails to offer an explanation for a delay of even a few months in asking for relief, a trial court finding that a movant did not act within a reasonable time is not erroneous. *Viafax Corp. v. Stuckenbrock*, 134 Idaho 65, 995 P.2d 835 (Ct. App. 2000).

Next, Idaho law recognizes (but limits) the right of a non-party to collaterally attack a judgment if it is void, and the non-party is adversely affected. *See Burns v. Baldwin*, 138 Idaho 480, 486, 65 P.3d 502 (2003). However, the rule governing relief from a judgment on the basis that the judgment is void does not provide a license for litigants to "sleep" on their rights. *United Student Aid Funds, Inc. v. Espinosa*, 559 U.S. 260 (2010). An objection that a judgment is void under I.R.C.P. 60(b)(4) must be brought within a reasonable time. *Blanc v. Laritz*, 119 Idaho 359, 361, 806 P.2d 452 (Ct. App. 1991); *McGrew v. McGrew*, 139 Idaho 551, 559, 82 P.3d 833

(2003). That "reasonable time" is also measured by the time from actual notice of the judgment to when the objection is made. *Blanc*, 119 Idaho at 361. Thus, a non-party's "standing" to attack the judgment does not divest the court of its discretion to analyze the timeliness of its conduct in attacking the judgment. Idaho courts can properly analyze the timeliness of a motion by a non-party utilizing **all** the facts, i.e. when the default was entered, and how quickly the non-party moved to vacate, both before and after they were actually made a party. *See Johnson, supra*. The trial court did not err in requiring Kirk-Scott to affirmatively establish **some** basis that the motion was reasonably timely brought.

Kirk-Scott's assertion that the judgment did not adversely affect it until the declaratory judgment action was filed, such that it could move to vacate until then is also incorrect. Contrary to this argument, the trial court did not require Kirk-Scott to "guess" at the effect of Golub's judgment; a recorded judgment creates a lien on the real property of a debtor as a matter of law. I.C. §10-1110. Kirk-Scott claims it had an interest in the property. It is presumed to know the law, and there was no need for it to "guess" at whether Golub's recorded judgment potentially impacted the property. A deed of trust holder on property on which there was a judgment lien is indeed "affected" by the point of the entry of judgment and has a sufficient interest at that time if it intends to attack the judgment.

3. While it is not Golub's burden to establish timelines, the only facts before the court demonstrate that Kirk-Scott did not act timely.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that Kirk-Scott had not met its burden of establishing timeliness of the motion. Even on appeal, Kirk-Scott continues to point to one

primary fact - - it filed a motion four months after being sued for declaratory relief (although it points to the three month period after her answer).³ It fails to explain the four month delay, and no other analysis need to be done to establish that the court below did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion based on timeliness. *See Viafax, supra*.

Moreover, Kirk-Scott also fails to explain how lack of notice of the judgment is possible, in light of the fact that Kirk-Scott is a 51.5% member in KHD, the judgment debtors; Antoine herself is a member with 3% interest. (Augmented Record, May 3, 2013 Aff. of Michael T. Howard, Ex. 10, p. 23) KHD's bankruptcy petitions in 2009 and 2011 also listed Golub as a creditor, and a judgment creditor; Kirk-Scott and Antoine were in privity with KHD and would have known of the bankruptcy petitions and their contents. (Augmented Record, May 3, 2013 Aff. of Michael T. Howard, Ex. 10, pp. 4, 17; Ex. 12, pp. 13,19) In fact, Antoine was listed as a secured creditor on the schedules in the 2011 bankruptcy and would have been served with the pleadings. (Id., Ex. 12, p. 10) The trial court's discretion includes the ability to apply its findings of fact in a logical manner. Dawson v. Cheyovich Family Trust, 149 Idaho 375, 234 P.3d 699 (2010). Interestingly, Antoine claims that Golub was fully aware of her and Kirk-Scott's connections to the project via their history of involvement; surely the same was true of Antione/Kirk-Scott's knowledge of Golub's role, and pursuit of his damage claim. The trial court

³ Kirk-Scott also cites to the conclusory statement in Antoine's Affidavit that she had no knowledge of the default judgment prior to being served with the declaratory action; that affidavit was not provided to the court in support of the motion to vacate the judgment. It was provided to the court on the motion to amend, and reconsideration of a Rule 60(b) motion is prohibited.

simply did not err in exercising its discretion to determine that factually, the motion to vacate was untimely under the rule.

- B. Even if the court were to address additional merits of the motion to vacate the default judgment, which was rendered unnecessary by the failure of Kirk-Scott to establish timeliness, no basis exists to void the judgment.
 - 1. The Complaint and course of proceedings adequately established the amount of the judgment.

In addition to its claim that its motion to vacate was timely, Kirk-Scott also argues that the default judgment was void based on its underlying argument that the amount of the judgment exceeded the amount pleaded in Complaint. While the district court did not abuse its discretion in finding the motion to have been untimely, Kirk-Scott also presented no evidence that the judgment could be voided.

The grounds on which a judgment can be voided are limited and narrowly construed. Hartman v. United Heritage Property & Casualty Co., 141 Idaho 193, 108 P.3d 340 (2005). There must be some jurisdictional defect in the court's authority to enter the judgment, either because the court lacks personal jurisdiction or because it lack jurisdiction over the subject matter of the suit. Cuevas v. Barraza, 152 Idaho 890, 894, 277 P.3d 337 (2012).

Kirk-Scott apparently attempts to "void" the judgment by claiming that the amount of the judgment exceeded the trial court's jurisdiction. However, the judgment rendered did not differ from the relief sought in the Complaint, and thus the trial court did not err in refusing to declare it void. The Judgment entered by the court on March 11, 2009 provided:

This matter, having come before the Court upon Plaintiffs' Motion for Default Judgment and I.R.C.P. 54(b) Certificate against Debtor, and

supported by the Affidavits of Michael T. Howard and Alan Golub, and the pleadings on file, the Court does hereby enter Judgment against Debtors as follows:

- 1. Plaintiffs are granted judgment in the principal amount of \$941,000.00;
- 2. Plaintiffs are granted pre-judgment interest at a rate of 12% beginning March 11, 2005 through entry of this judgment;
- 3. Plaintiffs are granted post-judgment interest to be determined by law from entry of this judgment.

(Augmented Record, May 3, 2013 Aff. of Michael T. Howard, Ex.8)

I.R.C.P. 54(c) states that a judgment by default is limited to the relief demanded in the Complaint. See I.R.C.P. 54(c). The Idaho Supreme Court has interpreted this provision in conjunction with I.R.C.P. 8(f) to mean that where no answer is filed, the relief granted cannot exceed that actually demanded somewhere in the complaint when considered in its entirety. See, Johnson v. Hartford Ins. Group, 99 Idaho 134, 138, 578 P.2d 676 (1978). The theory of this provision is that the defending party should be able to decide on the basis of the relief requested whether he wants to expend the time, effort, and money necessary to defend the action. See id.

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